
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

 
 
WEI WANG, 
and individually and on behalf of all 
others similarly situated, 

Plaintiffs,    CLASS ACTION 
        JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
v. 
 
TD AMERITRADE, INC., 
TD AMERITRADE FUTURES & FOREX LLC 
dba THINKORSWIM, 
 

Defendants. 
 

 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff, WEI WANG, files this class action complaint individually and on 

behalf of all others similarly situated against Defendants, TD AMERITRADE and TD 

AMERITRADE FUTURES AND FOREX, LLC (TDFF) dba THINKORSWIM (TOS) 

and alleges as follows. 

INTRODUCTION 

1.  Plaintiffs assert this action pursuant to Section 6b(e)3 of the Commodity 

Exchange Act (“CEA”), 7 U.S.C. § 9, et seq., and 17 C.F.R. Sec. 180.1 of the 

regulations promulgated pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform 

and Consumer Protection Act (“Dodd-Frank”), on behalf of themselves and 

all similarly-situated customers Of TD AMERITRADE (“TDA”)and TD 

AMERITRADE FUTURES AND FOREX LLC (“TDFF”) also doing business 

as THINKORSWIM (“TOS”). 
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2. TDA/TDFF engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business that 

operated recklessly as a fraud or deceit upon Plaintiffs and the class.  As 

described in detail below, TDA/TDFF mishandled Plaintiff’s and class 

members futures and options investments on April 20, 2020, in that TDFF:  

i) failed to provide material information to Plaintiffs regarding the 

possibility of the price of their NYMEX Light Sweet May 20 Crude Oil 

Futures contracts (May 20 Crude Oil) going to a price of zero; ii) failed to 

provide Plaintiffs a way to exit, roll, modify or offset their long positions in 

May 20 Crude Oil;  iii) failed to liquidate Plaintiffs’ and class members’ 

futures and options on futures investments in a reasonable manner on April 

20, 2020 when May 20 Crude Oil fell to a price of zero and proceeded to 

trade into negative prices; and iv) liquidated plaintiffs’ positions in a 

commercially unconscionable manner.   

3. While Plaintiffs recognize that TDA/TDFF had discretion to liquidate, 

TDA/TDFF did not have discretion to liquidate in the reckless and 

commercially unreasonable way that it did.  TDA/TDFF knew about the 

potential for the markets’ volatile condition – including the possibility that 

the price of the May 20 Crude oil contract could trade into the negative, and 

that the crude oil contract becomes more volatile during the delivery period 

- everything it needed to exercise its discretion to liquidate in an active and 

volatile market in a reasonable manner. 
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4. Yet TDA/TDFF recklessly liquidated Plaintiff’s long crude oil position, 

causing thousands of dollars in losses to Plaintiff and other class members- 

losses that could have been significantly reduced or completely avoided. 

5. TDA/TDFF did not i) take action to alert its customers to the possibility 

that the price of May 20 Crude Oil Contract could go to zero; ii) prepare its 

trading systems to be able to accept trades if the price of the May 20 Crude 

Oil contract declined to zero and into negative prices or, alternatively 

provide a way for the customers to place orders manually or through a 

separate vehicle, since its automated trading systems could not accept 

negatively priced Crude Oil orders; and, finally iii) take action to promptly 

liquidate positions in the May 20 Crude Oil contracts in accounts which 

became under-margined when the May 20 Crude Oil contract declined to 

zero and into negative prices, causing clients’ accounts to lose thousands of 

dollars and in some instances incur debit balances.  

6. TDA/TDFFs’ failure to provide its clients with material information, and its 

failure to liquidate its client’s positions in a commercially reasonable 

manner [promptly] also violated the implied covenant of good faith and fair 

dealing contained in its Futures Client Agreement. 

7. TDA/TDFF’s reckless actions make them liable for tens of millions in actual 

damages incurred by Plaintiffs and the class. 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over federal claims pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. § 1331. the CEA, 7 U.S.C. Sec. 25(c).  The Court also has subject 

matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. Sec. 1332(d) because (i) the matter in 

controversy exceeds $75,000, exclusive of interest and costs; ii) there are 

members of the proposed class who are citizens of a different state than 

Defendants; and (iii) there are in aggregate more than 25 members of the 

proposed class 

9. This Court has personal jurisdiction of the Defendant because it 

systematically operates, conducts, and engages in and carries out a 

business or business venture in Chicago Illinois. 

10. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to & U.S.C. Sec. 25(c) because the 

Defendants are found and transact business in this District. Venue is 

proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. Sec. 1391(b)(1) because TDFF is 

subject to personal jurisdiction in the state of Illinois with respect to this 

civil action, and in this district 

 

PARTIES 

11. Plaintiff Wei Wang is an individual and resident of the state of Utah.  He 

was a client of TDFF at all times relevant throughout the class period. 

12. TDFF is a financial services company and affiliate of TDA.  TDFF acts as a 

commodities broker and is registered as a futures commission merchant 
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(FCM) with the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC) and is a 

member of the National Futures Association (NFA). TDFF conducts futures 

business under the dba ThinkOrSwim and is engaged in providing futures 

execution services to clients of TDFF.  At all times TDFF conducted 

business in this District where it provided services to Plaintiffs. 

13. TD Ameritrade Inc. is a registered brokerage and registered investment 

advisor that is listed on the NASDAQ under the ticker symbol, AMTD.   

 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

A. Relevant Statutes and Rule 

 
14.   7 U.S.C. § 6b(e)3 makes it unlawful to engage in an act that operates as a 

fraud or deceit in connection with the making of an options contract: 

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly,…in or 
in connection with any order to make, or the making of, any 
contract of sale of any commodity for future delivery (or option on 
such a contract), …to engage in any act, practice, or course of 
business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit 
upon any person. 

 

15.   7 U.S.C. § 9, et seq, establishes that it is illegal to employ or engage in any 

swap, or contract of sale, of any commodity in interstate commerce, to 

provide false information  regarding the same, or to engage in false or 

fraudulent reporting, of the same. It also gives the administrative agencies 
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the power to create specific regulations for enforcement. 17 C.F.R. § 180.1 

was promulgated under this statute.   

16. 17 C.F.R. §180.1,a rule promulgated by the CFTC under  Dodd-Frank 

states: 

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, in 
connection with any swap, or contract of sale of 
any commodity in interstate commerce, or contract for future 
delivery on or subject to the rules of any registered entity, to 
intentionally or recklessly: . . . 

(2) Make, or attempt to make, any untrue or misleading 
statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact 
necessary in order to make the statements made not untrue or 
misleading; 

(3)  Engage, or attempt to engage, in any act, practice, or course 
of business, which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit 
upon any person; or, 

(4) Deliver or cause to be delivered, or attempt to deliver or cause 
to be delivered, for transmission through the mails or interstate 
commerce, by any means of communication whatsoever, a false 
or misleading or inaccurate report concerning crop or market 
information or conditions that affect or tend to affect the price of 
any commodity in interstate commerce, knowing, or acting in 
reckless disregard of the fact that such report is false, misleading 
or inaccurate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no violation of this 
subsection shall exist where the person mistakenly transmits, in 
good faith, false or misleading or inaccurate information to a 
price reporting service. 

 

17.   Section 25 of the CEA creates a private right of action for violations of 

Sections 6b(e).  Section 25(a)(1)(B) states that: 
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[a]ny person…who violates this chapter or who willfully aids, 
abets, counsels, induces, or procures the commission of a violation 
of this chapter shall be liable for actual damages…caused by such 
violation to any person-…who made through such person any 
contract of sale of any commodity…; or who deposited with or paid 
to such person money…in connection with any order to make such 
contract…. 

 

18.   Section 25 also creates a private right of action for violations of Rule 180.1.  

Section 25(a)(1)(D) states that: 

[a]ny person…who violates this chapter or who willfully aids, 
abets, counsels, induces, or procures the commission of a violation 
of this chapter shall be liable for actual damages…caused by such 
violation to any other person- …who purchased or sold a contract 
[of sale of any commodity for future delivery (or option on such 
contract or any commodity)] if the violation constitutes - …the use 
or employment of, or an attempt to use or employ, in connection 
with …a contract of sale of a commodity, in interstate commerce, 
or for future delivery on or subject to the rules of any registered 
entity, manipulate device or contrivance in contravention of such 
rules and regulations [promulgated pursuant to Dodd-Frank]… 

 

 
B. TDFF Accounts 

 
19. To invest in and trade futures and options on futures with TDFF, the 

investor is required to open futures account by entering in a Futures Client 

Agreement with TDFF.  A copy of the Futures Client Agreement is attached 

as Exhibit A.  
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C. Plaintiffs Purchase Futures and Options on Futures on the May 
20 NYMEX Light Sweet Crude Oil Contract 
 

20. Plaintiffs are individual investors with brokerage accounts at TDFF.  The 

Plaintiffs’ investments at issue here, are futures and options on futures 

contracts in the May NYMEX Light Sweet May 2020 Crude Oil contract 

(herein referred to the “May 20 Crude Oil contract”). 

 
21. A futures contract is a legally binding agreement to buy or sell a 

standardized asset on a specific date or during a specific month. “Trading in 

futures contracts is facilitated through a futures exchange. 

22. The fact that futures contracts are standardized and exchange-traded 

makes these instruments indispensable to commodity producers, 

consumers, traders, and investors. 

 
23. An option on a futures contract gives the option holder the right, but not the 

obligation, to buy or sell a specific futures contract at some point in the 

future at a specified price. 

 
D. May 2020 NYMEX Light Sweet Crude Oil Contract 
 

24. On April 20, 2020, Plaintiffs’ accounts contained substantial long positions 

(that is, he owned futures and/or options in May 2020 NYMEX Light 

Sweet Crude Oil futures contracts and/or options on the May 2020 

NYMEX Light Sweet Crude Oil futures contracts through TDFF).  The 

NYMEX Light Sweet Crude Oil futures contract is traded on the Chicago 
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Mercantile Exchange (“CME”) under trading symbol CL, Minimum Tick 

Size: $0.01 per barrel, worth $10.00 per contract. This contract is 

deliverable meaning that at the expiration of the contract month crude oil 

is physically delivered to the buyer of the contract.  

25. Plaintiffs accounts also held substantial long positions in E-Mini Light 

Sweet Crude Oil futures (QM) and options on these contracts through 

TDFF.  The E-Mini Light Sweet Crude Oil futures contracts are tied to the 

NYMEX Light Sweet Crude Oil futures contract, but are smaller, in that, 

the E-mini Light Sweet Crude Oil futures contracts are traded in 0.025 

increments and the full-sized Light Sweet Crude Oil futures are traded in 

0.01 increments. The trading symbol for the contract is QM and is traded on 

the CME. The E-mini contract is financially settled upon expiration of the 

contract – i.e. there is no physical delivery of crude oil for purchasers of the 

contract. The settlements in the E-mini Crude Oil (QM) futures contracts 

are derived directly from the settlements of the regular sized Crude Oil 

(CL) futures contracts, rounded to the nearest tradable tick. 

26. NYMEX Sweet Light Crude Oil futures and options, as well as the smaller -

mini contracts, trade actively on the Chicago Mercantile Exchange and 

their prices change throughout the trading session in response to economic 

events and market activity.   

27. On April 8, 2020, the Chicago Mercantile Exchange (CME) the commodity 

exchange on which Crude Oil and E-mini Crude Oil futures and options are 
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traded and cleared, sent out a regulatory advisory, the purpose of which 

was “to let the market know that CME Clearing is ready to handle the 

situation of negative underlying prices in major energy contracts and [we 

want] to give all of our clearing firms, customers, and partners a view into 

what the CME Clearing plan is so that each of our partners can do their 

own respective planning for this potential situation.   

28. On April 15, 2020, the CME sent out another advisory to clearing firms, 

CFO, back-offices, and futures commission merchants that they had 

provided an environment where firms could test negative prices. 

29. On the morning of  April 20, 2020, the CME issued a third warning that oil 

prices could go negative, leaving TDA/TDFF most of the trading day to 

liquidate positions, increase variation or maintenance margin or 

communicate this to all its customers.  It did nothing. 

30. On April 20, 2020, the May E-mini crude oil futures contract (symbol 

/QMK20 on TD Ameritrade’s platform) gradually declined throughout the 

day and then dropped from $0 to -$37.62 during the last 15 minutes of 

trading before settlement and expiration. (Exhibit B)  

31. Nowhere in any risk disclosure agreement, nor in its Futures Client 

Agreement, provided by TDFF to its customers or traders does TDFF warn 

that negative prices can occur.   

32. At no time subsequent to April 8, 2020 and before occurrence of negative oil 

prices on April 20, 2020,  did TD Ameritrade or TDFF institute 
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substantially greater margin requirements for all its traders and clients 

knowing, as it knew, that negative prices, and hence potentially infinite 

risk, was a real possibility. 

33. At no time subsequent to April 8, 2020 and before occurrence of negative oil 

prices on April 20, 2020,  did TD Ameritrade or TDFF decide to mitigate 

losses by stopping trading at zero, or forcing liquidations at zero. 

34. TD Ameritrade/TDFF promotes investing in futures as a way of 

diversification and leverage, and promoted the trading of cash settled 

futures in order to entice the retail customer with the idea that settlement 

risk could be avoided.  Futures is touted as an investment suitable for the 

individual retail investor at TD Ameritrade/TDFF in their individual and 

IRA accounts. 

35. TDFF Ameritrade failed to live up to its risk disclosure document (Exhibit 

B) where it states “multiple, robust risk management in process” and failed 

to liquidate client positions even when their account equity fell below zero.   

36. During that period, clients of TDFF were not able to place orders in the 

May 20 Crude Oil products and therefore were not able to modify, offset or 

exit their positions.  The automated order platform for TDFF did not 

recognize negative pricing in the contract and when attempting to place an 

order in the May 20 Crude Oil contract once the price continued to decline 

past zero, the platform’s message stated:  “FUTURE ORDERS MUST 

HAVE A POSITIVE LIMIT PRICE.” 
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37. TDFF was unprepared for the market events of 4/20/20 and did not even 

provide a valid quote below zero on its platform. 

38. Additionally, Plaintiff’s accounts were not closed out promptly when the 

price fell below zero and the accounts did not contain enough cash to 

maintain the positions.  Instead, the long Crude Oil position was permitted 

to remain in the account long after the account was under-margined,  which 

in cases of certain Plaintiffs was until all cash was lost in the account 

resulting in a debit balance. In fact, in Plaintiff Wang’s account, the account 

ended the day with a loss on 6 long May Crude Contracts of -165,602.50- 

having begun the day with a positive balance of $60,230.79 

39. Generally, in the futures market, to mitigate risk, a certain amount of 

money must always be maintained on deposit when trading with a futures 

broker this is called margin. When a trader first enters a futures position, 

the trader must post the initial margin requirement.  Once the position is 

established, the trader is held to a maintenance margin requirement, which 

is less than the amount of the initial margin requirement. If the equity in a 

customer’s account drops below the maintenance margin requirement due 

to adverse price movement, the broker will issue a “margin call” to restore 

the customer’s equity to the initial margin requirement.   

40. The CFTC defines a margin call as a request from a brokerage firm to a 

customer to bring margin deposits up to initial levels.i  If an account goes 

below the amount required to be posted as maintenance margin, then a 
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margin call is made, and the account must be replenished to bring the 

amount back up to the initial margin requirement, or an amount that may 

be required by the futures commission merchant during the trading day in 

order to maintain the trading position.   If a margin call is not met within a 

short time frame, often within a business day, the position may be 

liquidated or closed.  

41. According to the terms of TDFF’s own risk disclosure statement (Exhibit C), 

it is stated that TD Ameritrade/TDFF will liquidate positions if they exceed 

the margins required.  However, TDFF failed to abide by its policy on 

4/20/20 with regards to oil.  As a result of this failure, Plaintiff’s account as 

well as accounts of other individual retail investor accounts ended with 

large negative balances which could have been avoided had TD Ameritrade  

acted in good faith and made an attempt to close out the positions on 

4/20/20 when the accounts became under-margined or even when customer 

equity fell below zero. 

42. At no time was Plaintiff Wang contacted by TDFF relating to a margin call 

nor to provide him the opportunity to offset his position, roll his position to 

the next contract month, or provide funds because he was under-margined.  

43.  TDFF did nothing when the price of May 20 Crude Oil hit zero and 

proceeded into negative pricing, knowing that Plaintiff Wang would not be 

able to place an order to exit the position or roll the position to the next 

contract month, and where Plaintiff’s losses would have been limited –at 
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least to just over $10 per contract, or a loss of around $30,000 instead of a 

loss of -$165,602.50 Alternatively, TDFF could have liquidated Wang and 

the Class members when their accounts initially became, under-margined, 

thereby substantially mitigating if not eliminating losses. 

44. The possibility of the contract going to zero should have been anticipated by 

TDFF [as an futures commission merchant responsible for the execution of 

Plaintiff’s trades on CME] and TDFF should have alerted its clients 

particularly prior to the date of delivery, April 20th.  To the extent that 

TDFF concluded that Plaintiff’s positions became under-margined, TDFF 

should have closed Plaintiff’s positions promptly. 

45. Instead of taking either of the commercially reasonable alternatives 

outlined above, TDFF acted recklessly.  It failed to take action to permit its 

clients the ability to place orders in the May 20 Crude Oil contract when the 

price touched zero and declined into negative pricing, and further, failed to 

liquidate Plaintiff’s accounts promptly when the accounts became under-

margined, but waited to do so long after the account became under-

margined and sustained extreme losses leaving the account with a debit 

balance. 

46. The failure of TDFF to act to mitigate investor losses by offsetting their 

positions promptly or within a reasonable time of the accounts becoming 

under-margined, or to contact clients to notify them of the fact the CL 

market was at zero and providing them with an option to exit, modify, offset 
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roll the position by placing an order via another means other than an 

automated order platform (which was not able to recognize negative 

pricing), caused severe losses to Plaintiffs and the class members who had 

long futures positions in the May Crude Oil contract.   

47. In those accounts incurring debit balances, TDFF has sent letters 

demanding payment for such deficiencies. 

48. TDA/TDFF knew or should have known about the possibility of the Crude 

Oil markets incurring negative pricing as it executed trades in these 

markets for clients cleared through CME; which had notified firms that the 

CL price had the potential to go to zero and to prepare for this possibility.  

TDFF failed to notify/advise their customers of material information 

regarding the crude oil markets, although it was clear based upon the 

CME’s advisory that the contract had the potential to go to zero and to 

prepare for such an event.  The omission of a material fact prevented 

Plaintiff from making an informed decision regarding the management of 

their positions in the Crude Oil contracts as they were not aware of the 

potential for loss in this market.    

49. Upon information and belief, TDA/TDFF has settled with some trading 

customers and made them whole and offered other customers, including the 

Plaintiff some accommodation based upon the inability to execute a trade 

during the time prices were negative, or to call in an order to execute a 

trade and liquidate long positions. 
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50. TDFF has treated its customers differently.  TD Ameritrade has chosen to 

credit the losses back to the accounts of some of its larger traders but not all 

its traders.  This goes against the rules for impartial and fair treatment of 

customers 

51. Any recovery of TDFF on any debit purportedly owed by Plaintiff is barred 

by TDFFs violations of  17 C.F.R. Sec. 180.1, as well as their breach of the 

covenant of good faith and fair dealing.  

  

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

52. Plaintiffs seek certification of a class of participants (the “Class”) as follows: 

 All persons, corporations, and other legal entities that held long futures 

positions (or short put positions) with TDFF on April 20, 2020, who were 

damaged by TDFFs failure to inform them of the possibility of the May 2020 

Crude Oil futures contract going to zero or the forced sale or liquidation of 

their May 2020 Crude Oil futures or options positions on April 20, 2020; or 

who were unable to place orders to offset, modify or exit their May 20 Crude 

Oil futures or options position on April 20, 2020. 

53. Excluded from the Class are Defendants, and their directors, officers, or 

employees. 

54. This action may be maintained as a class action pursuant to Rule 23 of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, because it meets all the requirements of 

Rule 23(a)(1-4), including the numerosity, commonality, typicality and 
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adequacy requirements, and it satisfies the requirements of Rule 23(b)(3) in 

that the predominance and superiority requirements are met. 

55. Numerosity.  The Class is so numerous that individual joinder of all 

members is impracticable. While the exact number of Class members is 

unknown to Plaintiffs at this time, Plaintiffs are informed and believe that 

at least 60 geographically-dispersed Class members transacted in Crude Oil 

futures or options through TDFF and lost millions of dollars during the 

Class Period. 

56. Commonality.  There are numerous questions of fact or law that are common 

to Plaintiffs and all the members of the Class.  Common issues of fact and 

law predominate over any issues unique to individual Class members.  

Issues that are common to all class members include but are not limited to 

the following: 

a. Whether Plaintiffs and class members held long futures positions or 

short put option positions in May 20 Crude Oil contracts in accounts at 

TDFF on April 20, 2020; 

b. Whether Plaintiffs and class members entered into the Futures 

Agreement with TDFF; 

c. Whether TDFF liquidated Plaintiffs’ and class members long futures 

positions May 20 Crude Oil or short put option positions in the 

contract on April 20, 2020; 
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d. Whether Plaintiffs were unable to (due to the inability of TDFFs 

automated trading system to accept an order) exit, modify or offset 

their long futures positions or short options positions in the May 20 

Crude Oil contracts for their accounts when the contract hit the price 

of zero and after at approximately 12:00 p.m. on April 20, 2020; 

e. Whether Plaintiffs were informed by TDFF of the possibility of the 

May 20 Crude Oil contract declining to a price of zero before April 20, 

2020. 

f. Whether TDFFs liquidation of Plaintiffs’ May 20 Crude Oil positions 

were reckless and commercially unreasonable and breached the TDFF 

Futures Client Agreement’s implied covenant of good faith and fair 

dealing; and 

g. Whether Plaintiffs and class members were damaged by the 

liquidation. 

57. Typicality.  Plaintiffs have claims that are typical of the claims of all the 

members of the Class.  Plaintiffs’ claims and all of the class members’ 

claims arise out of the same uniform acts and course of business employed 

by TDFF on April 20, 2020 and arise under legal theories that apply to the 

claims of Plaintiffs and all other members of the Class. 

58. Adequacy of Representation.  Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent 

the interests of the members of the Class.  Plaintiffs do not have claims that 

are unique to Plaintiffs, nor are there defenses unique to Plaintiffs that 

Case: 1:20-cv-04028 Document #: 1 Filed: 07/09/20 Page 18 of 42 PageID #:18



19 
 

could undermine the efficient resolution of the Class’ claims.  Further, 

Plaintiffs are committed to the vigorous prosecution of this action and have 

retained competent counsel, experienced in class action litigation, to 

represent them.  There is no hostility between Plaintiffs and the unnamed 

class members.  Plaintiffs anticipate no difficulty in the management of this 

litigation as a class action. 

59. Predominance.  Common questions of law and fact predominate over 

questions affecting only individual class members.  The only individual 

issues likely to arise will be the exact amount of damages recovered by each 

class member, the calculation of which does not bar certification. 

60. Superiority.  A class action is superior to all other feasible alternatives for 

the resolution of this matter.  Individual litigation of multiple cases would 

be highly inefficient and would waste the resources of the courts and of the 

parties. 

61. Manageability.  This case is well suited for treatments as a class action 

and easily can be managed as a class action since evidence of both liability 

and damages can be adduced, and proof of liability and damages can be 

presented on a class-wide basis, while the allocation and distribution of 

damages to Class members would be essentially a ministerial function. 

62. Defendants have acted similarly with respect to the entire Class by 

uniformly subjecting Plaintiffs and the Class to the course of business 

described above. 
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COUNT 1 
Violations of CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 9, and 17 C.F.R. Sec. 180.1 

 
63. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 62 as if fully 

set forth herein. 

64. TDFF failed to notify/advise their customers of material information 

regarding the crude oil markets, that it had the potential to go to zero, 

although it was clear based upon the CME’s advisory that the contract 

had the potential to go to zero and to prepare for such an event.  The 

omission of a material fact prevented Plaintiff from making an informed 

decision regarding the management of their positions in the Crude Oil 

contracts as they were not aware of the potential for loss in this market.    

65. Furthermore the failure of TDFF to act to mitigate investor losses by 

offsetting their positions promptly or within a reasonable time of the  

accounts becoming under-margined, or to contact clients to notify them of 

the fact the CL market was at zero and providing them with an option to 

exit, modify, offset roll the position by placing an order via another means 

other than an automated order platform (which was not able to recognize 

negative pricing), TDFF caused severe losses to Plaintiffs and the class 

members who had long futures positions in the May Crude Oil contract.  

And for those accounts incurring debit balances TDFF has sent letters 

demanding payment for such deficiencies. 

66. By doing so, Defendants violated 180.1 in that its conduct was reckless or 

intentional in violation of 17 C.F.R. §180.1(a)(3)  
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COUNT II 
Breach of Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing 

 
67. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 66 as if fully 

set forth herein. 

68. Plaintiffs and class members each signed the Futures Agreement, which 

contains a provision giving TDFF discretion to liquidate Plaintiffs and class 

members May 20 Crude Oil long futures positions and short puts positions. 

69. Implicit in that provision is a covenant of good faith and fair dealing that 

TDFF will exercise its discretion to liquidate in a good faith and in a 

commercially reasonable manner. 

70. TDFF acted unreasonably when it failed to promptly or within a reasonable 

time, liquidate Plaintiff’s positions when the accounts became under-

margined leading to excessive losses and in many cases deficit balances in 

the accounts on April 20, 2020. 

71. Additionally, the Futures Agreement provides that TDFF will execute 

orders on behalf of its clients which states, “All orders placed by Client may 

be executed on any exchange or other market where such business is 

transacted by TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex or its agent in the discretion 

of the Firm or such agent, deemed to be most desirable, unless otherwise 

instructed.” 

72. Furthermore TDFF failed to provide Plaintiff with the ability to place an 

order to exit, modify, offset roll the position by placing an order via another 

means other than an automated order platform (which was not able to 
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recognize negative pricing), causing severe losses to Plaintiffs and the class 

members who had long futures positions in the May Crude Oil contract 

73. By doing so, TDFF breached the Futures Client Agreement’s implied 

covenant of good faith and fair dealing 

74. Plaintiffs and class members have been damaged as a result. 

 

COUNT III 
Violation of CEA Section 6b(e)3 

 
75.     Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations of paragraphs 1 through 74 as if fully 

set forth herein. 

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, Wei Wang, on behalf of themselves and all similarly 

situated customers of TD Ameritrade Futures and Forex LLC dba ThinkorSwim, 

respectfully demand judgment against Defendants for: 

(a) Damages as set forth above, plus all other relief as the Court may deem 

appropriate; 

(b) That the Court certify this lawsuit as a class action under Rules 23(a) and 

(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, that Plaintiffs be designated 

as class representatives and that Plaintiffs’ counsel be appointed as Class 

counsel;  
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(c) That the Court award Plaintiffs and the Class damages against Defendants 

for their violations of the Commodity Exchange Act; 

(d) That the Court award Plaintiffs and the Class their costs of suit, including 

reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses, including expert fees, as provided 

by law; 

(e) That Defendants be permanently enjoined and restrained from continuing 

to expose retail investors and traders to unlimited risk in their futures 

accounts; 

(f) That the Court award Plaintiffs and the Class prejudgment interest at the 

maximum rate allowable by law; and 

(g) Such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiffs 

demand a jury trial as to all issues triable by a jury.  

 

Dated: July 9, 2020 
Chicago, Illinois 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ R Tamara de Silva 
R Tamara de Silva (lead counsel) 
Cheryl Fitzpatrick-Smith 
Law Offices of R Tamara de Silva, LLC 
980 N Michigan Avenue, Suite 1400 
Chicago, IL 60611 
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Tel: (312) 913-9999 
Email: tamara@desilvalawoffices.com 
 cheryl@futurescomplianceinc.com  
     
 
/s/ Jonathan Lubin 
Jonathan Lubin  
8800 Bronx Ave., Suite 100H 
Skokie, IL 60077 
Tel: (773) 954-2608 
Email: jonathan@lubinlegal.com 
 
Counsel for Plaintiffs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
i https://cftc.gov/LearnAndProtect/EducationCenter/CFTCGlossary/glossary_m.html#margin 
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TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex LLC  
600 W. Chicago Ave. Suite 100  Chicago, IL 60654-2597
Phone: 866-839-1100  Fax: 773-435-3232

Page 1 of  5 TDA 600 F 03/18

In consideration of  the agreement of  TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex LLC (“TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex” or “the Firm”), a registered Futures Commission 
Merchant (“FCM”) with the CFTC, to act as broker for the undersigned (“Client”) in the purchase or sale of  futures contracts and options on futures (hereinafter, 

“Commodity Interests”), in the Client’s account for trading futures (“Account”) Client agrees, in respect to all Accounts that Client now has or may at any future time 
have with TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex, or its successors, including Accounts from time to time closed and then reopened, as follows:

1. AUTHORIZATION AND ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
a. �Client understands that TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex has not undertaken and will not undertake an independent evaluation of  whether Commodity 

Interests trading or any transaction entered into by Client hereunder is appropriate for Client, and TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex is relying solely on 
Client’s representations in this regard. All transactions effected for the Account and all fluctuations in the market prices of  Commodity Interests or other 
property carried in the Account are at Client’s risk, and Client shall be solely liable for such risks under all circumstances. Client acknowledges that Client 
is willing and financially able to sustain any losses resulting therefrom, and Client’s unconditional obligation to pay TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex the 
amount of  any such losses.

b. �Client authorizes TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex to (i) purchase and sell Commodity Interests upon Client’s oral, written, or electronic instructions; and 
(ii) employ any clearing broker, executing broker, or floor broker, as Client’s agents in connection with the execution, clearing, carrying, delivery, and/or 
settlement of  any such transactions. The Firm shall not be responsible to Client in any case for an executing broker’s or floor broker’s inability to execute 
orders, nor shall TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex be responsible in any way for any executing broker or floor broker selected by Client. All orders placed 
by Client may be executed on any exchange or other market where such business is transacted by TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex or its agent in the 
discretion of  the Firm or such agent, deemed to be most desirable, unless otherwise instructed.

c. �Client shall be bound by, and TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex may rely on and act in accordance with, any oral or written instructions which TD Ameritrade 
Futures & Forex believes, in good faith, to have been given by Client or an individual authorized to act on Client’s behalf, including but not limited to any 
individual identified in writing by Client to TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex as authorized to act on Client’s behalf. 

d. �Transactions shall be subject to the constitution, by-laws, rules, regulations, customs, and usages of  the exchange or market where executed (and of  its 
clearing house if  any) and to any applicable Federal or State law, including but not limited to the provisions of  the Commodity Exchange Act (the “Act”), as 
amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder (collectively, “Applicable Law”). TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex shall not be liable to Client as a result 
of  any action taken by the Firm or its agent to comply with any Applicable Law. Any failure by TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex to comply with any Applicable 
Law shall not relieve Client of  any obligations under this Agreement nor be construed to create rights thereunder in favor of  Client against the Firm.

e. �Client further acknowledges and agrees that: (i) Client is exercising its own judgment and decision with respect to any instructions given to TD Ameritrade 
Futures & Forex to execute transactions for the Account, without reliance on any information or other statements that may be made by TD Ameritrade 
Futures & Forex, and the Firm makes no representation or warranty as to the value, merits, or suitability of  any order placed or transaction undertaken by 
Client; (ii) TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex shall have the right to limit the size and number of  open contracts (net or gross) held in the Account, refuse the 
acceptance of  orders for new positions, and/or require Client to reduce open positions; (iii) TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex has no fiduciary obligations 
to Client, and the duties and obligations of  the Firm to Client are limited to those expressly set forth in this Agreement; (iv) TD Ameritrade Futures & 
Forex is acting solely as Client’s broker in accordance with the terms of  this Agreement and is not otherwise acting as an agent or a fiduciary to Client 
and has no discretionary authority or control over the Account; (v) the Firm has no financial or other obligations as a principal to Client under the terms 
of  this Agreement in connection with any transaction in Commodity Interests executed, cleared, or carried by TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex for Client; 
(vi) TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex may, in its sole discretion, decline to accept from other brokers Commodity Interests executed by such brokers on an 
exchange for Client and proposed to be “given up” to the Firm for clearance or carrying in the Account; and (vii) Client will, following a request by the Firm, 
promptly provide to TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex copies of  its latest audited financials (if  applicable) and any such other financial or other information as 
the Firm may reasonably request.

2. LIEN AND SECURITY INTEREST
Client grants TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex a first lien and security interest in all monies, open positions in Commodity Interests, documents representing 
title to commodities such as warehouse receipts and the commodities represented thereby and any other property of  Client (either individually or jointly 
with others) now or in the future held by the Firm in the Account or otherwise in the Firm’s possession or control for any purpose, including safekeeping 
(collectively, the “Collateral”), to secure payment and discharge of  all obligations of  Client to TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex or any affiliate of  the Firm, which 
Collateral is subject to the general lien of, and right of  set-off  by, TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex for any and all such obligations. Client agrees to execute 
any and all documents including Uniform Commercial Code financing statements, as deemed necessary or appropriate by TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex 
to evidence or perfect its security interest in any Collateral. Client has not granted and will not grant a security interest in the Collateral or the Account (other 
than the security interest granted to the Firm hereunder) to any other party without TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex’s written consent. Except as prohibited by 
Applicable Law, all Collateral now or hereafter held or carried by the Firm for Client may, from time to time, without notice to Client, be pledged, hypothecated, 
loaned, or invested by the Firm to or with others, separately or with any other property. TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex shall not be required to retain in its 
possession for delivery a like amount of, or to pay interest or to account to Client for any profits on, such property. All transactions for or on Client’s behalf  
may be included in a single Account whether or not such transactions are segregated on TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex records into separate Accounts, 
either severally or jointly with others.

Futures Client Agreement
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3. AUTO SWEEP AND TRANSFERS
To open an account, Client understands that TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex requires that a Client first have an Account for trading securities 
(“Securities Account”) with its affiliate, TD Ameritrade, Inc. established. Client understands and agrees that if available cash is held in the Account 
at the end of the trading day, such available cash is automatically swept from the Account held at TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex, to his or her 
Securities Account held at TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex’s affiliate, TD Ameritrade Clearing, Inc. Regardless of where available cash is held, 
applicable SEC and CFTC rules require proper segregation of Client assets from firm assets. Please note that transferring available cash from the 
Account to a Securities Account will result in the Client not receiving preferential treatment afforded for funds held in a futures account pursuant to 
Part 190 of the CFTC’s regulations and the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. Client funds held in a Securities Account for the purpose of purchasing securities 
or held in a portfolio margin account carried as a Securities Account are protected by SIPC. Client should refer to the Securities Account Client 
Agreement or the SIPC website, http://www.sipc.org/ for further information regarding SIPC coverage. Client may elect to not have available cash 
transferred from the Account to a Securities Account by contacting TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex New Account Department at 600 W. Chicago,  
Suite 100, Chicago, IL 60654 or via email at futuressupport@tdameritrade.com.

As permitted by applicable law, Client agrees that TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex may, in its sole and absolute discretion and without prior notice 
to Client, transfer excess funds or collateral from one Client Account to any other Account that Client maintains with TD Ameritrade Futures & 
Forex (including any of the Securities Accounts custodied by TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex’s affiliate, TD Ameritrade Clearing, Inc.) in such 
amount as in TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex’s judgement may reasonably be required to avoid margin calls or to reduce or satisfy any deficit in 
the account to which the funds were transferred. TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex, however, is not obligated to do so.

4. MARGINS
TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex shall have the right to set and revise margin requirements and to limit, without prior notice to Client, the number of  positions 
which Client may maintain or acquire through TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex. Client will at all times maintain collateral and margin for all Accounts as from 
time to time may be required by TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex in its sole discretion or demanded by Applicable Law.

5. CLIENT OBLIGATIONS
Client agrees to pay promptly on demand any and all sums due to TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex for monies advanced including any unsecured debit 
balance, with interest thereon at 1% over the prime rate published in The Wall Street Journal. Client agrees to pay when due, TD Ameritrade Futures 
& Forex’s charges for commissions at rates established between the Firm and Client and for related fees and charges as a result of, or related to, the 
transactions effected under this Agreement, and for other services offered and accepted in connection with the Account. Further, Client undertakes, at any 
time upon TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex demand, to discharge all obligations to the Firm, or, in the event of  a closing of  any of  Accounts in whole or in 
part, to pay any deficiency owed, if  any, including costs, damages, or attorney fees suffered or paid by TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex, directly or indirectly, 
in connection with such deficiency. In lieu of  requiring the immediate discharge of  any Client obligations, TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex may, in its sole 
discretion, demand security for such obligation and, if  elected, for all future obligations in which event Client will either discharge all existing obligations to 
TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex or furnish security as the Firm demands, and, in that connection, execute and deliver such security agreements, financing 
statements, and other documents, informs prescribed or approved by TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex as shall be reasonably requested. Client agrees to 
maintain $1,500.00 Net Liquidating Value in Account at all times. TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex, without prior notice and in its sole discretion, reserves the 
right to raise Client’s minimum Account Net Liquidating Value at any time.

6. LIQUIDATION OF POSITIONS
If  the Account is under-margined or if  TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex, in its sole discretion, determines that it is otherwise insecure with respect to Client’s 
willingness or ability to fulfill his/her obligations hereunder, TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex may in its sole discretion and without prior notice to Client offset any 
of  Client’s open positions in Commodity Interests (including futures or options on futures) so as to eliminate such margin deficiency or insecurity, and Client 
shall remain liable to TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex for any loss or debit balance that results, without regard to (a) whether TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex has 
adhered to margin or other rules of  any contract market, or (b) any other term of  this Agreement. Likewise, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, Client 
hereby authorizes TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex, without prior notice and in its sole discretion, to liquidate any assets held by TD Ameritrade Clearing, Inc. in 
a Securities Account to eliminate such margin deficiency or insecurity. This right to offset includes the right, if  deemed appropriate in the exercise of  the Firm’s 
discretion, to buy and/or sell any related futures and/or options on futures or other property, including but not limited to the use of  spreads, straddles, and/or 
off-exchange transactions, such as an exchange for physical or other cash transaction, including for the Firm’s account, in order to effectuate such liquidation. 
It is understood that a prior demand or call or prior notice of  the time and place of  such sale or purchase shall not be considered a waiver of  TD Ameritrade 
Futures & Forex’s right to sell or buy without demand or notice as herein provided. Client shall remain liable for and shall pay to TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex 
immediately the amount of  any deficiency in any Account of  Client with the Firm resulting from any transaction described above. For purposes of  this Client 
Agreement, a reasonable amount of  time shall be deemed one hour or less, if  in the Firm’s sole discretion market conditions required that margin calls must be 
met in less than one hour.

7. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY; INDEMNIFICATION
a. �Neither TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex nor its officers, directors, affiliates, and/or employees shall have any responsibility for compliance by Client with any law or 

regulation governing Client’s conduct. 

b. �Neither TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex nor its officers, directors, affiliates, or employees shall be under any liability whatsoever for any loss or damage sustained 
by Client as a direct or indirect result of any services provided by the Firm hereunder or for any loss or damage resulting, directly or indirectly, from: (i) any failure 
or delay or default on the part of Client or any third party, including any custodian or exchange (including any clearinghouse), in providing accurate information or 
performing its functions; (ii) any event or circumstance beyond the reasonable control of TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex including, but not limited to, (A) any failure 
or defective performance of any communication, settlement, computer or accounting system or equipment; or (B) performance, non-performance, delays in the 
transmission or execution of any order due to suspension or termination of trading, the breakdown or failure of the system or of any other transmission system, 
electronic trading system, or communication facilities, or (C) any governmental, judicial, administrative, exchange, or regulatory or self-regulatory organization order, 
restriction, or ruling; (iii) strikes or similar labor action; or (iv) any reliance placed by Client on any market or other information supplied to Client by TD Ameritrade 
Futures & Forex, it being understood that any such information may be unverified and the Firm makes no representation or warranty as to the accuracy or 
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reasonableness of such information. In no event will TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex or its officers, directors, affiliates, or employees be liable hereunder to Client for 
consequential, incidental, or special damages, including damages for loss of profit or loss of trading opportunity.

c. �In the event that TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex is a party, directly or indirectly, to any claim, dispute, or loss in connection with (i) transactions effected in the 
Account; (ii) Client’s obligations or liabilities arising from the Account, (iii) this Agreement, (iv) Client’s use of an electronic trading system of any exchange or other 
market, or (v) Client’s violation of any third party’s rights, including, but not limited to, copyright, patent, trademark, proprietary, and privacy rights, Client shall 
indemnify and reimburse TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex for all losses, damages, fines, penalties, and expenses incurred, including the Firm’s reasonable attorney’s 
fees and expenses. The Firm shall have the exclusive right to defend, settle, or compromise any claim or demand instituted by any third party against TD Ameritrade 
Futures & Forex or against the Firm and Client. Client hereby waives any and all rights Client may have independently to defend, settle, or compromise any such 
claims or demands and agrees to cooperate to the best of Client’s ability with TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex with respect thereto, but the Firm may, in its sole 
discretion, authorize and require Client to defend, settle, or compromise any such claim or demand as TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex deems to be appropriate at 
Client’s cost, expense, and liability. Client agrees to reimburse TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex on demand for any cost of collection incurred by the Firm in collecting 
any sums owing by Client under this Agreement and any cost incurred by the Firm in successfully defending itself against any claims asserted by Client, including 
all attorney’s fees, interest, and expenses.

8. NOTICES AND CLIENT COMMUNICATIONS
a. �Any notices and other communications may be transmitted to Client at the address, telephone number, or email address given herein, or at such other 

address or telephone number as Client hereafter shall notify TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex in writing. All notices or communications shall be deemed 
transmitted when telephoned, deposited in the mail, sent via facsimile, electronic transmission, or email by the Firm. Confirmations, purchase and sale 
statements, and account statements shall be deemed accurate unless written objection is transmitted via facsimile or email to TD Ameritrade Futures & 
Forex at 773.435.3232 or futuressupport@tdameritrade.com, such transmission to be made by Client immediately upon receipt of  such notice.

b. �Electronic Signatures. Client’s use of  electronic signatures to sign documents is legally binding in the same manner as if  such documents had been 
manually signed.  The use of an electronic version of these documents fully satisfies any requirement that they be provided in writing. If  documents are signed  
electronically, Client represents to have the ability to access and retain a record of  the documents. Client is responsible for understanding these documents 
and agrees to conduct business with TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex by electronic means. Client is obliged to review periodically the websites for changes 
or modifications.

c. �Consent. By consenting to the electronic delivery of  all information relating to my Account, Client authorizes TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex to deliver 
all communications by the following means: (1) by email at the email address specified by Client; (2) by posting the communication on the websites or 
other sites on the Internet where the communication can be read and printed; (3) by sending Client an email that includes a hyperlink to the websites or an 
address on the Internet where the information is posted, and can be read and printed; and (4) by sending Client a notice that directs Client to an address 
on the Internet or a place within the websites where the communication is posted and from which it can be read and printed. Such delivery will be an 
effective delivery to Client for the purposes of  any Applicable Rules whether or the communications are accessed or reviewed. Although Client consents 
to electronic delivery, TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex may elect to deliver communications by other means which shall not affect Client’s consent. Client 
agrees to notify TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex of  any change in address. Client may revoke his consent to electronic delivery at any time and should 
contact TD Ameritrade at 866-839-1100 option 4 or futuressupport@tdameritrade.com to do so.

9. COMMUNICATION DELAYS
TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex shall not have any liability to Client for delays in the transmission, clearance, or confirmation of  Client’s orders due to 
mechanical, electronic, or computer failure or market congestion or illiquidity, or other causes beyond its control, nor shall it be liable for improper execution, 
clearance, or confirmation of  Client’s orders by persons who are not employees of  TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex. The price at which an order is executed 
shall be binding notwithstanding the fact an erroneous report is made. An order, which was executed but in error reported as not executed, shall be binding. 
TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex shall have no liability to Client arising out of  (a) Client’s use of  or reliance on information provided directly or indirectly through 
TD Ameritrade’s website, whether in the nature of  quotations or otherwise, (b) futures transactions not cleared through the Firm, or (c) Client’s access to or 
use of  third party websites (or other resources) linked to or otherwise incorporated into or referenced within TD Ameritrade’s website.  

10. ELECTRONIC TRADING
a. �Client acknowledges that all orders, whether placed through the Firm’s system, through a floor broker or otherwise, are at Client’s sole risk. Client shall be 

solely responsible for all orders entered or attempted to be entered through Client’s identifiers. Acceptance of  an order for placement does not constitute 
an agreement or representation by TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex that there is sufficient margin in the Account to support the resulting position. Client 
acknowledges that the Firm may set minimum net liquidating equity for the Account. Client hereby acknowledges Client’s responsibility to keep appraised 
of  current margin requirements in connection with all trading activities, agrees to post all required margin for trades ordered by Client, and agrees to be 
liable for the losses incurred on all trades ordered by Client, regardless of  whether there is sufficient margin posted when the trade is ordered. 

b. �Under no circumstances shall TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex or any other FCM with whom the Firm has an omnibus or other clearing relationship have 
any responsibility or liability to Client in the event that, whether because of  electronic or other mechanical failure, system failure or delay, acts of  God or 
terrorism, or any other reason, (a) Client is unable to access or use the website or trading software, whether to place an order, receive Account related 
information, or otherwise engage in any futures related activities, or (b) any exchange or clearing corporation sustains any mechanical, electrical or other 
failure, delay, interruption, or congestion, whether or not such results in a failure to maintain an orderly market, failure or delay in the execution, clearance, 
or confirmation of  futures transactions for the Account or otherwise. To reduce costs and increase the efficiency in confirming Client’s trades and reporting 
Account data to Client, Client consents to delivery of  all his daily statements and margin calls (collectively, ”statements”) by email, instead of  hard copy, to 
the email address provided by Client. Client acknowledges that some electronic markets permit continuous trading and that access to those markets may 
not be provided by TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex. Under no circumstances shall TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex bear any liability to Client for any losses 
that may result from the inability to access markets due to such restrictions. Client shall bear sole responsibility for the cancellation of  all unexecuted 
day orders that can be executed during market hours for which access is not provided by TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex. If  TD Ameritrade Futures & 
Forex believes that execution or attempted execution of  any Client order might contravene any Applicable Law or violates the Firm’s internal policies, 
TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex, in its sole discretion, may delay or refuse to execute any order to purchase or sell Commodity Interests for the Account, at 
any time, and from time to time.
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11. EXERCISES, ASSIGNMENTS, AND DELIVERIES
With regard to options transactions, Client understands that some exchange clearing houses have established exercise requirements for the tender of  
exercise instructions and that options will become worthless if  Client does not deliver instructions by such expiration times. At least two business days prior 
to the last trading day in the case of  long and short positions in options, Client will give TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex instructions to liquidate, exercise, or 
allow the expiration of  such options, and will deliver to the Firm sufficient funds required in connection with exercise. If  such instructions or such funds are 
not received by TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex prior to the expiration of  the option, TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex may permit an option to expire. Client 
also understands that certain exchanges and clearing houses automatically exercise some “in-the-money” options unless instructed otherwise. Client 
acknowledges full responsibility for taking action either to exercise or to prevent exercise of  an option contract, as the case may be. TD Ameritrade Futures 
& Forex is not required to take any action with respect to an option, including without limitation any action to exercise a valuable option contract prior to 
its expiration or to prevent the automatic exercise of  an option, except upon Client’s express instructions. Client further understands that the Firm may 
also establish exercise cut-off times, which may be different from the times established by the contract markets or clearing houses. If  timely exercise and 
assignment instructions are not given, Client hereby agrees to waive any and all claims for damage or loss Client might have against TD Ameritrade Futures 
& Forex arising out of  the fact that an option was or was not exercised. Client understands that TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex, or its agents, randomly 
assign exercise notices to Clients, that all short option positions are subject to assignment at any time, including positions established on the same day that 
exercises are assigned, and that exercise assignment notices are allocated randomly from among all Clients’ short option positions which are subject to 
exercise. With regard to futures transactions, liquidating instructions on open positions in a current delivery month must be given to TD Ameritrade Futures 
& Forex at least five business days prior to the first notice day in the case of  long positions, and at least five business days prior to the last trading day in 
the case of  short positions. TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex does not allow for futures contracts to be settled with physical delivery of  a commodity nor does 
TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex allow for positions to be held on or after First Notice Day. Client is required to close or roll Client’s positions to the next active 
month prior to First Notice Day.  While any positions can be liquidated at the discretion of  the TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex Risk Department at any time 
and without prior notice, open positions (regardless of  whether they are long or short) in physically delivered products will be liquidated before First Notice 
Day or Last Trade Date, whichever occurs first. If  funds, documents, or instructions are not received, TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex may, without notice, 
close out such positions without additional prior notification. TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex shall have no liability to Client for any such action. In the event of  
an error, omission, or out trade discovered on or after the last day of  trading, TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex will abide by the appropriate Exchange rules for 
an Alternative Delivery Procedure (ADP). 

12. POSITION LIMITS
In addition to compliance with any position limits that TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex may impose hereunder, Client agrees to comply with any applicable position 
limits that may be established by the CFTC, other applicable regulators or the rules of any exchange or self  regulatory organization, whether Client is acting alone 
or in concert with others.

13. FOREIGN CURRENCY CONVERSIONS
Client will make all deposits in U.S. dollars except as otherwise permitted by TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex. Unless another currency is designated in 
the confirmation for such transaction, all margin deposits for such contract and any debit or credit made in the Account as a result of  liquidating such a 
contract shall be in U.S. dollars at a rate of  exchange determined by the Firm in its sole discretion on the basis of  the then prevailing rates of  exchange for 
such foreign currency. If  Client places any order that would be settled in a currency other than U.S. dollars or otherwise instructs the Firm to enter into any 
transaction to be denominated in a currency other than U.S. dollars, then: (a) Client shall be deemed to have authorized the Firm to convert funds to the 
applicable currency sufficient to meet the applicable margin requirement; (b) the exchange rate for such conversion shall be determined by the Firm on the 
basis of  then-prevailing rates of  exchange and the Firm may retain a fee for such conversion; and (c) any profit or loss arising as a result of  a fluctuation in 
the exchange rate affecting such currency shall be for the Account and at the Client’s risk. In no event shall TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex be required to 
effect, or be responsible for, the conversion of  funds in anticipation of  changes in prevailing rates of  exchange. Where applicable, Client shall be deemed to 
have authorized the holding of  funds outside of  the U.S., a money center country (as defined in CFTC Rule 1.49), or in a country other than the currency’s 
country of  origin if  Client fails to object when informed (by receipt of  confirmation or otherwise) that funds are held in such jurisdiction. 

14. INDIVIDUAL ACCOUNT
a. �If  this is an Individual Account, or Individual Retirement Account (“IRA”), Client represents that this is an Individual or Sole Proprietorship Account and no 

one else has an interest in the Account.

b. �If  this is an IRA established under Section 408(a) of  the Internal Revenue Code of  1986, as amended (“Code”), or an account of  a Roth IRA established 
under Section 408A of  the Code (each, an “IRA”), the undersigned person represents that he or she is the beneficial owner of  the IRA, which is the 
Client hereunder, and has authority: (1) to give any instructions with respect to the account; (2) to receive any demands, notices, confirmations, reports, 
statements, and other communications of  any kind; (3) to sign any other documents related to the opening or maintenance of  this account; and (4) 
generally to deal with TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex in connection herewith as fully and completely as if  the trustee or custodian of  the IRA had no 
interest herein.

15. JOINT ACCOUNT
If  this is a Joint Account, each Client agrees that liability shall be joint and several. Each Client shall have authority: (1) to give any instructions with respect to 
the Account; (2) to receive any demands, notices, confirmations, reports, statements, and other communications of  any kind; (3) to sign any other documents 
related to the opening or maintenance of  the Account; and (4) generally to deal with TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex in connection herewith as fully and 
completely as if  the other joint tenant or tenants had no interest herein. Notwithstanding the foregoing, TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex is authorized to require 
joint action by the joint tenants on an Account. TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex shall be under no duty or obligation to inquire into the purpose or propriety of  
any instruction given and shall be under no obligation to see to the application of  any funds so delivered.

16. NOTIFICATION OF RECORDING
TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex is hereby granted permission to record telephone conversations between its representatives and Client.
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17. BINDING EFFECT; AMENDMENTS
This is the entire agreement of  the parties governing the Account, and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous agreements between Client and TD Ameritrade 
Futures & Forex concerning the Account. TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex reserves the right to amend this Agreement without prior notice to Client, or as required 
by Applicable Law. The current version of  the Agreement will be posted electronically and Client’s continued account activity after such amendment constitutes 
the Client’s agreement to be bound by all amendments to the Agreement, regardless of whether the Client reviews them. No person has the authority to represent 
that this Agreement will not be enforced in accordance with its terms or to make any representation inconsistent with the terms of  the Risk Disclosure for Futures 
and Options and the Risk Disclosure Statement concurrently delivered to Client. TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex’s failure to insist on Client’s strict adherence 
to the terms hereof  shall not act as a waiver of  its rights to so insist at any time thereafter, all such rights being cumulative and unconditional in nature.

18. CLIENT REPRESENTATIONS
Client represents and warrants that: (a) Client has the legal authority and is duly authorized and empowered to execute and deliver this Agreement and to 
open Accounts and effect transactions in Commodity Interests through TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex, such transactions do not and will not violate any 
Applicable Law, or any judgment, decree, order, or agreement, to which Client or the Client’s property is subject, and this Agreement is binding on and 
enforceable against Client in accordance with its terms; (b) Client is under no legal disability which would prevent client from trading in Commodity Interests or 
entering into this Agreement and that all of  the information contained in the Account Application is true, complete, and correct as of  the date hereof; (c) Client 
is not an associated person, general partner, employee, or otherwise associated with another FCM or IB under CFTC Regulation 155.3(c); (d) If  Client directs 
TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex to execute block trades, Client represents that it is an eligible contract participant as defined by the Commodity Exchange Act 
and the CFTC; (e) client will promptly notify TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex in writing of  any changes in such information or any change in circumstances 
which would affect the representations and information given to the Firm or which would in any way affect Client’s ability to make any transactions 
contemplated by or render performance under any term of  this Agreement; (f) if  Client is an individual, he or she is of  majority age, and that he or she is 
not an employee or a member of  any exchange (nor of  any corporation of  which any exchange owns a majority of  the capital stock) nor of  a firm registered 
on any exchange, or if  he or she is so employed that a written consent of  his or her employer is attached herewith; and (g) Client will notify TD Ameritrade 
Futures & Forex in writing to liquidate all open Commodity Interest positions in and close his Account if  losses therein approach the extent at which the 
lifestyle of  Client or any dependent of  Client may become adversely affected.

19. CONSENT TO CREDIT CHECK; ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING PROVISIONS
Client understands an investigation may be made pertaining to his credit standing and his business accounts, and authorizes TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex 
to contact such banks, financial institutions, and credit agencies as the Firm shall deem appropriate. Client acknowledges that any Account established 
pursuant to this Agreement shall be subject to anti-money laundering requirements established by applicable government agencies or self-regulating 
organizations. Accordingly, Client shall promptly provide any documents or certifications requested by TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex that the Firm believes 
are necessary or advisable to obtain for anti-money laundering compliance purposes.

20. ASSIGNABILITY
Client’s rights and duties hereunder may not be assigned other than with the written consent of  TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex. Client agrees that 
TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex may assign this Agreement to another FCM upon notice to Client and otherwise in accordance with Applicable Law.

21. INTERPRETATION
These section headings are for convenience of  reference only and shall not affect the meaning or construction of  any provision of  this Agreement. If  any 
provision of  this Agreement shall be determined to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder shall not be affected thereby.

22. GOVERNING LAW
This Agreement and its enforcement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Nebraska without regard to the conflicts of law provision thereof. No lawsuit, 
arbitration proceeding, or other claim, regardless of form, arising out of  transactions under this Agreement may be brought by Client more than one year after the 
cause of action arose. Provided, however, that any action brought under the provisions of Section 14 of the Act, may be brought at any time within two years after 
the cause of action accrues.

23. ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF DISCLOSURES
CLIENT HEREBY UNDERSTANDS THE FUTURES CLIENT AGREEMENT AND CONSENTS AND AGREES TO ALL OF THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
OF AGREEMENT SET FORTH ABOVE. CLIENT ACKNOWLEDGES THAT TRADING IN COMMODITY INTERESTS IS SPECULATIVE, INVOLVES A 
HIGH DEGREE OF RISK, AND IS APPROPRIATE ONLY FOR PERSONS WHO CAN ASSUME RISK OF LOSS IN EXCESS OF THEIR MARGIN DEPOSIT. 
CLIENT EXPRESSLY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS RECEIVED, READ, AND UNDERSTANDS, AND HAS RETAINED COPIES OF CFTC RULE 1.55 
RISK DISCLOSURE STATEMENT FOR FUTURES AND OPTIONS. CLIENT ALSO UNDERSTANDS THAT TD AMERITRADE FUTURES & FOREX IS 
RELYING ON CLIENT TO BE FAMILIAR WITH ANY DISCLOSURES RELATED TO THIS ACCOUNT THAT ARE OR MAY BECOME APPLICABLE.

Investment Products: Not FDIC Insured * No Bank Guarantee * May Lose Value

TD Ameritrade Futures & Forex LLC, member NFA. Securities brokerage services provided by TD Ameritrade, Inc., and TD Ameritrade Clearing, Inc., 
members FINRA/SIPC. TD Ameritrade is a trademark jointly owned by TD Ameritrade IP Company, Inc. and The Toronto-Dominion Bank.  
© 2018 TD Ameritrade.
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